Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Journal of Pathology Informatics

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jpi

## Review Article On image search in histopathology

## H.R. Tizhoosh <sup>a,\*</sup>, Liron Pantanowitz <sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Artificial Intelligence and Informatics, Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN, USA
<sup>b</sup> Department of Pathology, School of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, PA, USA

#### ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Information retrieval Image search Whole-slide images Computational pathology

## ABSTRACT

Pathology images of histopathology can be acquired from camera-mounted microscopes or whole-slide scanners. Utilizing similarity calculations to match patients based on these images holds significant potential in research and clinical contexts. Recent advancements in search technologies allow for implicit quantification of tissue morphology across diverse primary sites, facilitating comparisons, and enabling inferences about diagnosis, and potentially prognosis, and predictions for new patients when compared against a curated database of diagnosed and treated cases. In this article, we comprehensively review the latest developments in image search technologies for histopathology, offering a concise overview tailored for computational pathology researchers seeking effective, fast, and efficient image search methods in their work.

## Contents

Introduction
Why image search?
Applications in histopathology
Divide and conquer: How AI can digest whole-slide images
The "divide" in histopathology image search
"Conquering" the patches
Archive size
Performance metrics
Performance per class/subtype
Overall performance
Existing image search engines
Architectural design of search methods
Strengths and weaknesses of search methods
Validation of search methods
Multimodal search in histopathology
Image search and foundation models
Summary and conclusions.
Declaration of Competing Interest
References

## Introduction

The field of "content-based image retrieval" (CBIR) is greater than three decades old.<sup>1,35</sup> CBIR is about finding images in a database without metadata by relying on the "content" of the image itself, i.e., the pixels and

their spatial relationships, and not by using "metadata" such as keywords and descriptive phrases.<sup>38</sup> CBIR technology has slowly found its way into computational pathology, especially after the emergence of digital pathology. However, to date, there has been no concise overview of the scope of image search and algorithms available for pathology. In this paper, we

\* Corresponding author. *E-mail address*: tizhoosh.hamid@mayo.edu (H.R. Tizhoosh).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpi.2024.100375

Received 15 February 2024; Received in revised form 21 March 2024; Accepted 29 March 2024

Available online 04 April 2024

2153-3539/© 2024 The Author(s). Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of Association for Pathology Informatics. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).







offer a survey and analysis of different search techniques to thereby help pathologists and other researchers select appropriate CBIR methods to advance their work and innovations.

## Why image search?

Visual examination of the "content" of tissue samples using a microscope or digital image displayed on a monitor is a task usually relegated to pathologists or computational biologists. Interpretation of such content encompasses some or all of the following steps:

- **Observing cellular morphology** (includes cellular structures and their characteristics, architecture based on the arrangement of cells, and background extracellular material).
- Identifying cell types (subtypes of cells, including normal or abnormal).
- Noting cellular abnormalities (involving their size, shape, color, and organization).
- **Tissue integrity** (including preservation of cells and structure, as well as tissue damage or necrosis).
- Examining inflammatory response (presence of acute and/or chronic host immune reaction).
- Analyzing tumor characteristics (includes tumor subtype, growth, margins, invasion into adjacent tissues, grade, and stage)
- Using special stains and biomarker analysis (stains or in-situ hybridization highlight specific cell types, proteins, proliferation index, or other molecules).

It is assumed that "semantic gap" between human experts and computers can be closed if a (properly designed and trained) deep network is employed to extract relevant features in histopathology images.<sup>6,18,57</sup> Hence, one can assume that the aforementioned tasks can be reasonably performed by deep networks if we acquire so-called *deep embeddings* for a tissue image (Fig. 1). The semantic gap generally refers to the disparity between low-level image features (such as pixel values, edges, and colors) that deep learning—as well as handcrafted features—extract from unprocessed tissue pixels, and the high-level concepts (such as tissue types and cellular patterns) that pathologists perceive from microscopic images.<sup>41,44,55</sup> For deep learning to close this gap, it must accurately capture the visual content of tissue images in a way that is interpretable by the pathologist.<sup>23,60</sup> Learning tissue representation is a major step toward closing this gap.<sup>21,47</sup> Additionally, employing multimodal domain data, such as pathology reports, can help deep learning attach "context" to its otherwise black-box behaviors when it comes to hierarchical tissue representation in their connectionist topologies.  $^{15,26}$ 

## Applications in histopathology

CBIR has many applications in histopathology, where it can assist pathologists in analyzing and managing large volumes of pathology images to enhance diagnosis, collaboration, education, research, and decisionmaking processes. In particular, matching images may help perform *quality assurance*. CBIR can contribute to the *diagnosis of diseases* by comparing a query image with a database of histopathological images of known cases. By searching and locating visually similar images with known diagnoses, pathologists have more information to identify disease patterns. The same logic applies to *treatment planning*. Cases with similar diagnostic morphology may provide information to use similar treatment.

CBIR also supports remote consultation and collaboration between pathologists. Retrieving similar cases for/in a remote database, a new tool in *telepathology*, pathologists can discuss and share knowledge, enabling second opinions and enhancing consultation and/or consensus to resolve challenging cases.<sup>52</sup> Moreover, finding and analyzing similar tissue patterns can be a teaching tool in histopathology *education, because it* allows trainees to study and compare various histological patterns and diseases, sometimes even using rare, archived cases.

Image search is a crucial tool in research, allowing the exploration of large histopathological image archives to discover and identify novel patterns, trends, and correlations among diseases and their histological characteristics. By leveraging this approach, new associations, biomarkers, and predictive factors can be discovered in collaboration with other data mining technologies.

## Divide and conquer: How AI can digest whole-slide images

In computer science, "Divide and Conquer" (D&C) (see Fig. 2) is a general problem-solving idea that proposes to break down a complex problem into smaller, more manageable subproblems that can be solved independently; combining these individual solutions in order to solve the original "unsolvable" problem. Whenever we talk about a solution for complex problems, a reasonable computation time is implied. However, nobody can wait a prohibitively long time for a computer to calculate the solution for a difficult problem.

**Example: Sorting numbers**—If we have one number, no sorting is necessary. In fact, every single isolated number is sorted by itself. However, what happens if we get two numbers? Well, we can keep them as they are if



Fig. 1. Small image patches (or tiles) of high-resolution whole-slide images are fed into properly trained deep networks to extract a feature vector commonly called "embedding". The output of the network is then neglected. The embedding layer is often positioned before the classification layers at the output of the network.



Fig. 2. Divide & Conquer (D&C). Sorting a long list of numbers, the architecture of convolutional neural networks (CNNs), and stages of comparing whole-slide images (WSIs) represent different examples for applying D&C when we are dealing with an extremely difficult problem. Although the general D&C concept does not involve any preprocessing of data, in image search we often add pre-processing (e.g., tissue segmentation).

they appear in the right order, or rearrange them if they do not. Sorting small lists of numbers is not a difficult problem. But what happens if the list of numbers is extremely long and contains millions of numbers? In this case, we can begin by swapping numbers by looking at the adjacent pair of numbers. Even after reaching the end of the list and having undertaken millions of swaps, the list may still not be fully sorted. Fig. 3 illustrates a simple example for sorting.

- **Divide**: The list is recursively (i.e. repeatedly in a self-similar manner) divided into smaller sublists. This step involves breaking down the problem into manageable parts, until the subproblems become simple enough to be solved directly (i.e., this yields a list with only few numbers).
- **Conquer**: Each sublist is sorted independently. This typically involves applying the same D&C technique recursively to the sublists until they can be easily sorted or when reaching a "base case" where a straightforward solution is obvious (e.g., one single number that is automatically sorted).
- **Combine**: The sorted sublists are combined to obtain a final list where all numbers appear in the right order. This step involves merging sublists to assemble the sorted list, (i.e., the solution).

For one million numbers, a method that does not use D&C and sorts the list by swapping adjacent pairs would take approximately "one million by one million = one billion" swaps. This would take a prohibitively long waiting time for the user. Instead, if a method that does use D&C would take approximately "one million by logarithm of (one million) = six million" swaps. Now, instead of one million numbers, imagine we need to classify a whole-slide image of size 50,000 by 50,000 pixels. This is equivalent to  $3 \times 50,000 \times 50,000 = 7.5$  billion pixels. Furthermore, when analyzing such a gigapixel file we are not just sorting numbers, but we have to perform much difficult tasks like recognizing relationships between adjacent numbers in all directions for a plurality of variations of different tissue types in all organs. In computer science, we call this a "NP-Hard" problem; jargon that signifies the problem cannot be (easily) solved via conventional approaches.

Convolutional neural networks, which enabled the revival and tremendous success of AI, are an excellent implementation of the D&C concept. Successive layers of convolutions (filtering) and pooling (breaking down the image into smaller images) make the problem (image identification) manageable for a simple network of a few fully connected layers (the



Fig. 3. Sorting a list of unsorted numbers through D&C paradigm. In complex problems, conquering the problem to generate a sorted list is not possible without a "Divide" stage.

conquer part) such that a final layer can then combine everything into a decision.

Searching for WSI content needs its own Divide and its own Conquer to be both fast and memory efficient.

#### The "divide" in histopathology image search

Presently, even with multicore computers, ample memory, and clusters of powerful GPUs, we still face serious limitations when it comes to processing large WSI files for any purpose—whether using AI or not. Consequently, current computers are unable to instantaneously analyze a WSI in its entirety, determine the contents based solely on pixel data, and accordingly provide a diagnosis or prognosis. As for image search and many other tasks, a practical approach involves dividing WSI files into multiple "patches" (smaller sub-images) and processing them individually. However, due to the gigapixel scale of WSIs, patching schemes (which embody the "divide" operation) may generate numerous patches of any given size, typically ranging from 224 by 224 pixels up to 1024 by 1024 pixels. Consequently, GPU processing of these patches becomes time-consuming and expensive.

The "Divide" of WSIs can be performed in two ways: (1) sub-setting, or (2) patching (see Table 1 and Fig. 4). Sub-setting approaches attempt to find one large portion of a WSI that contains the region or abnormality of interest.<sup>5</sup> This approach, while potentially effective in reducing the processing of excessive patches, lacks popularity due to its requirement for supervision. Like other supervised methods, it restricts the "Divide" process to the specific primary site and diagnosis for which it has been trained. In addition, due to the large number of tissues and heterogeneity of diseases, and possible presence of multiple concomitant abnormalities, sub-setting may fail in many scenarios. Hence, most papers that have implemented any notion of "Divide" for any type of WSI processing have employed patching.

The "*Divide*" of a WSI, i.e., the patching procedure for search purposes, must satisfy the following *requirements* to be practical in digital pathology:

- 1. **Universality**: It must be unsupervised (a Divide approach subject to training will limit usability).
- Tissue size/Shape independence: It must process the image of all types of specimens, including core biopsies and excisions (different shapes and sizes of tissue should be handled automatically).
- Diagnostic inclusion: It should not miss any diagnostically relevant tissue part (even small but unique patches should be extracted for indexing).
- High speed: It should extract patches in a timely manner (brute force methods based on expensive operations like deep feature extraction will not be feasible).
- 5. Storage efficiency: It should aim to extract a minimal number of patches. Additionally, the encoding process should not demand excessive storage (the necessity for low storage of deep embeddings and any encoding method is crucial in the context of digital pathology).

### Table 1

Comparison	1 of sub-setting	and patching	for dividing	WSIS.

	Divide via sub-setting	Divide via patching
Learning	Supervised	Unsupervised
Primary site	Needs customization	Agnostic
Abnormality inclusion	One	Multiple
Risk of missing a second abnormality	Very high	Low
Risk of missing a small abnormality	Very high	Low
Works best for	One large tissue sample containing one connected	Any tissue sample as long as the
	segment of abnormality if you have sufficient delineated cases	abnormality is not too small

Any new image search strategy must put forward a new patching paradigm that ideally satisfies all of these aforementioned conditions.

## "Conquering" the patches

The "Conquer" part of image search in histopathology has mainly two parts: (1) to get feature vectors for each patch, and (2) encode the feature vector for efficient storage and processing. Using deep embeddings as features for digital images has been under intensive investigation in recent years.<sup>7,16,46,54</sup> It is generally assumed that deep learning has closed the semantic gap between subjective image assessment and computerized processing of digital images.<sup>13,42</sup> Training a suitable topology from scratch, fine-tuning a pre-trained network, or simply using zero-shot features from a backbone network are all possible venues to conquer the patches of a WSI. As we will see, different search strategies have explored all of these possibilities. However, conquering WSI patches that come from the Divide solely through deep feature extraction is not possible for practical deployment. Going fully digital, a natural prerequisite for image search, requires high-performance storage that is a considerable investment for many clinics and hospitals.<sup>14,17</sup>

Encoding is another indispensable part of conquering WSIs. Here, we understand encoding rather in its original information-theoretical meaning related to coding theory involving data compression. We cannot simply save all of the feature vectors of all patches of all WSIs. To store a vector of say 1024 real-valued numbers between -10 and +10, we would need 1024 numbers \* 4 bytes/number = 4096 bytes if we use single-precision floating-point numbers. For double precision, the storage of one vector increases to 8192 bytes. If we manage to extract 100 representative patches on average from each WSI, we would need at least 400 kilobytes to "index" the WSI. In contrast, a binary feature vector would need 100\*1024 elements \* 1 bit/element = 100,024 bits = 12 kilobytes. Hence, binary encoding would reduce storage by 97%. The higher processing speed and diminished GPU demand are other advantages of encoding.

## Archive size

It has been assumed, for unknown reasons, that digitized histopathology archives to be searched are very large. Whereas the number of biopsy cases per year, and average number of glass slides per patient, to be scanned in a typical pathology laboratory do indeed lead to emergence of large archives, we do not have to search these large archives (and as of 2023, large digital histopathology archives are rather the exception). It can very well be that designing and validating matching algorithms in small, but well-curated collections is much more feasible and beneficial. As large heterogeneous pathology archives remain to be widely established, it may not make sense to talk about them in abstraction.

#### Performance metrics

Evaluating the performance of image search algorithms is more challenging than image classification algorithms. As a classification model provides specific and distinct output as a decision, its evaluation in terms of accuracy is rather straightforward (i.e., true and false). Although the outputs of image search may be looked at as true/false as well (e.g., in terms of primary diagnosis), search cannot be comprehensively evaluated like classification as it provides a set of results (i.e., search results). In the literature, several performance metrics<sup>1</sup> are used to evaluate the effectiveness of CBIR systems.<sup>8,39,63</sup>

Below is the list of most used performance measures. As per literature, precision and recall, and their harmonic average, F1 score, are de facto

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A metric space, mathematically speaking, is a set together with a notion of distance between its elements. The distance is measured by a function called a metric or distance function. A metric space has some mathematical properties<sup>11</sup> that may not be satisfied by all evaluation methods discussed here. Hence, we use the word *metric* in a generic, less strict sense.



Fig. 4. The "Divide" of a WSI can be performed either as a sub-setting problem (top) or a patching problem (bottom). [Image source: TCGA, Case UUID b8a44fdf-9cb9-4123-9ab0-4bc198921fee, breast invasive carcinoma, file: TCGA-OL-A5RU-01Z-00-DX1.A48CAF2D-9310-4611-B27D-400F3A324607.svs].

standard for most retrieval tasks as they build on sensitivity and specificity<sup>8</sup> (see Fig. 5).

Performance per class/subtype

- **F1 Score** is the harmonic mean of *precision* (how many of the retrieved images are actually relevant to the query, i.e., low false-positive rate) and *recall* (how many of the relevant images were actually retrieved, i.e., low false-negative rate), providing a balanced measure of both metrics. For detailed analysis, one may provide the values of precision and recall as well.
- **Precision-recall curve** plots the precision values against different recall levels. A high area under the curve represents both high recall and high precision.
- **P@K and R@K** may also be reported to measure the precision and recall for the top K retrieved images, respectively.
- Majority@K measures the accuracy of image search for the top K search results. In contrast to the "top K" accuracy in computer vision (search function would be successful if *at least one* of the retrieved images was relevant/correct). The majority@K considers the search successful only if *at least 51%* of the retrieved images were relevant/correct. This

measure was first used to evaluate search results in histopathology in the Yottixel paper.  $^{\rm 27}$ 

- Relevance feedback/judgements, in contrast to all other previous metrics and measures, evaluates the performance of image retrieval based on user feedback, i.e., the pathologists' judgements. Image retrieval based on relevance feedback has shown considerable performance increase.<sup>62</sup>
- Mean opinion score (MOS) is "a numerical measure of the humanjudged overall quality of an event or experience" and is extensively used in the telecommunication industry.<sup>25</sup> It was first used to evaluate the correlation between pathologists' feedback and search results.<sup>27</sup>

#### Overall performance

- Mean average precision (mAP) calculates the average precision at different recall levels and then takes the mean of those average precisions. mAP provides a measure of the overall effectiveness of the search.
- Mean average precision at K (mAP@K) focuses on the precision at a specific value of K (e.g., mAP@5). It measures the average precision of the top K retrieved images.



Fig. 5. Precision and recall (derive from true/false positives and true/false negatives) are the base for precision (consistency) and recall (accuracy). F1-score, as the harmonic average of precision and recall is an aggregated measure of both.

- Normalized discounted cumulative gain (NDCG) evaluates the ranking quality of retrieved images. It is often used to measure performance of web search engine algorithms. NDCG considers both relevance and rank position, giving higher weight to relevant images that are ranked higher.
- Macro- and micro-averaging of any metric are used mainly for multiclass classification. Macro-averaging treats the contributions of all classes equally to the final averaged metric. Micro-averaging treats the contributions of all samples equally to the final averaged metric. If you have an imbalanced dataset (which is often the case in histopathology), micro-averaging generally provides higher values than macro-averaging. It is recommended to avoid micro-averaging for imbalance dataset.<sup>40</sup>
- Average normalized modified retrieval rank (ANMRR) is a normalized ranking method. The NMRR score ranges from 0 to 1, where 0 indicates perfect retrieval.

When searching histopathology digital images, the most conservative performance evaluations are majority@K. Relevance feedback from user, i.e., pathologist, is obviously crucial but as image search in histopathology does not seem to have been implemented for clinical utility, there are no user studies or statistics available in this regard. The F1 score stands out as a more comprehensive measure for search to summarize majority@K because it effectively quantifies both precision (minimizing false positives) and recall (minimizing false negatives) and is based on parametrized F measure.<sup>22</sup> Whereas majority@K goes beyond classification and top-k metrics, and rigorously requires the majority of retrieved images to be correct/ relevant (see Fig. 6), the relevance feedback is the ultimate evaluation representing practical implementation of the Turing Test.

#### Existing image search engines

There are many search techniques that have been applied to histopathology images.<sup>45,49,61</sup> Based on our background review, six of them may be of relevance for today's needs. We look at hashing-based image retrieval as described in Zhang et al<sup>59</sup> (we call it short HBIR), visual dictionary (or bag of visual words, BoVW<sup>64</sup>), Similar Medical Images Like Yours, SMILY,<sup>20</sup> Yottixel,<sup>27</sup> Self-supervised Image Search for Histology, SISH,<sup>12</sup> and Retrieval with Clustering-guided Contrastive Learning, RetCCL.<sup>58</sup> These are the most recent and most relevant search approaches to histopathology images regarding the current needs and state of technology.

#### Architectural design of search methods

Based on previous considerations, we look at five stages of image search pre-processing, dividing the WSI, conquering the search task (consisting of a network for feature extraction, and encoding), matching, and optional post-processing. Table 2 provides an overview of the selected search schemes and their structures.

**Pre-processing**—The most common pre-processing is segmentation of tissue region. Not having segmentation is an indication that there is no Divide. HBIR and SMILY do not have segmentation, hence do not offer any Divide. Such methods are based on manual or exhaustive patch selection and are generally inefficient.

**Divide**—Patching is the pivotal stage for image search. Without patching, there is no proper indexing and hence no search. HBIR and SMILY, as mentioned, offer no Divide. BoVW samples visual words in both deterministic and stochastic ways. However, the literature has ignored the potentials of BoVW for histopathology and we could not find many papers that employed a visual dictionary. Yottixel is the only method that offers a new Divide, unsupervised, to get a "mosaic" of patches. SISH borrows the Yottixel's mosaic. RetCCL also uses Yottixel's mosaic, but instead of employing a color histogram for clustering it uses deep features, an approach that makes the indexing very slow.

**Conquer (Network)**—HBIR did not use deep features at all. BoVW may use any type of features. SMILY and RetCCL used custom-trained networks. SISH uses two networks, a DenseNet like Yottixel and a custom-trained autoencoder, but performs poorly. Yottixel uses DenseNet. Assuming that one custom-trained network will be suitable for analyzing an entire histopathology database appears to be a rather restrictive factor and not an advantage.

**Conquer (Encoding)**—This entails additional measures to make processing and matching of features more effective and/or efficient. HBIR uses hashing, a well-established set of algorithms to convert real-valued numbers into a series of zeros and ones. Visual dictionaries use counting of visual words as a type of encoding to create a compact histogram. Yottixel introduced the novel concept of "barcoding" feature vectors through one-dimensional derivatives (i.e., encoding the changes of deep



**Fig. 6.** A query of certain class (here green circles) is matched to all instances in an archive by distance calculation. The distance vales are then sorted in ascending order (most similar at the top of the sorted list). The *n* similar cases at the top of the list will be retrieved as the output. Then, the "top n" accuracy as common in computer vision will assign 'green' because at least one retrieved circle, among five, is green. However, the 'majority n' scheme assigns 'red' to the query because three out of five retrievals are red.

#### H.R. Tizhoosh, L. Pantanowitz

### Table 2

Structure of the most recent strategies for searching digital histopathology archives. Not having tissue segmentation leads to lack of Divide, a major drawback of HBIR and SMILY (black cells). Not using encoding is a disadvantage as well (gray cells). Both SISH and RetCCL use Yottixel's mosaic for Divide. SISH uses the complete Yottixel processing chain and adds an autoencoder and a tree (yellow cells). Ranking search results appears to compensate for inferior search results but adds computation overhead, eliminates the possibility of WSI-to-WSI matching, and reduces search to classification (red cells).

	Pre-Proc.	Divide	Conquer Network Encoding		Combine	Post-Proc.
HBIR			None	Hashing	Hashcode matching	None
BoVW	Segment	Visual word sampling	Any feature extraction method	Counting	Histogram matching	None
SMILY			Custom	None	Feature matching	None
Yottixel	Segment	Mosaic	DenseNet	Barcoding	Barcode matching	None
SISH	Segment	Yottixel's mosaic	DanseNet	Yottixel's barcoding	Barcode matching	Ranking
			Autoencoder		Tree matching	
RetCCL	Segment	Yottixel's mosaic	Custom	None	Feature matching	Ranking

features).<sup>32,51</sup> SISH also uses Yottixel's barcoding although it does not cite the original works. RetCCL does not use any encoding.

**Combine**—In terms of search and matching, the Combine approach is favored for match.

**Post-processing**—HBIR, BoVW, SMILY and Yottixel do not use any post-processing. SISH used a multistage ranking approach to rearrange search results. RetCCL used the same ranking algorithm as SISH. Although any domain knowledge or unsupervised method may be used to improve search results, ranking search results (which have been already ranked by the search engine) appears to be ill-motivated. The primary concern in questioning the value of ranking, especially in the context of SISH's utilization, as a post-processing task in histopathology is that it eliminates the possibility of comprehensive WSI-to-WSI matching. Matching patients becomes challenging, as single patches in two WSIs may exhibit similarities or dissimilarities. To enable thorough tissue comparison between two patients, extensive comparisons of all representative patches in the respective

WSIs are necessary. The SISH ranking reduces search to classification. After search, all patches are again processed and ranked outside the search engine.

## Strengths and weaknesses of search methods

The strengths and weaknesses of the aforementioned six search strategies were analyzed (Table 3). As Yottixel is the only complete search engine with its own Divide & Conquer, most strengths are assigned to it. HBIR and SMILY do not have any Divide (they cannot index WSIs), and both SISH and RetCCL use Yottixel's. HBIR is certainly superior to SMILY for patch search as it uses hashing (binarization of features). SISH is a re-implementation of Yottixel as it borrows the entire Yottixel chain, mainly both Divide (mosaic) and encoding in Conquer (barcoding via MinMax algorithm).<sup>48</sup> RetCCL appears to only propose a trained network and use simple matching. RetCCL,

#### Table 3

Strengths and weaknesses of the search schemes.

Search scheme	Strength	Weakness
HBIR	• Hashing (fast processing)	<ul> <li>No divide (no WSI processing)</li> <li>No deep features</li> </ul>
BoVW	<ul><li>No patching, no sub-setting</li><li>Unsupervised</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Requires custom setting (size of visual words, size of dictionary)</li> <li>Requires training of custom topology</li> </ul>
SMILY	• Custom network training	<ul><li>No divide (no WSI processing)</li><li>No encoding</li></ul>
Yottixel	<ul> <li>Novel divide</li> <li>Novel binary encoding</li> <li>Patch and WSI matching</li> <li>Validated with majority@k</li> <li>Validated by three pathologists</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Mosaic needs configuration (number of clusters and sampling rate)</li> <li>Requires network selection</li> <li>Commercially patented<sup>56</sup></li> </ul>
SISH	Using a tree for implementation	<ul> <li>No new Divide (uses Yottixel's mosaic)</li> <li>Autoencoder does not contribute to accuracy</li> <li>No thorough WSI matching</li> <li>Tree indexing needs a lot of storage</li> <li>Search perhaps slow due to integer indexing</li> <li>Commercially patented<sup>56</sup> (due to using Yottixel's barcoding)</li> </ul>
RetCCL	Custom network training	<ul> <li>No Divide (uses Yottixel's divide)</li> <li>Expensive Divide (uses deep features instead of color histogram)</li> <li>No encoding</li> </ul>

#### H.R. Tizhoosh, L. Pantanowitz

like SISH, uses Yottixel's mosaic but it makes it very expensive by replacing color histograms with deep features.

## Validation of search methods

Yottixel, SISH, and RetCCL use TCGA (The Cancer Genome Atlas) for training. Yottixel has not used any of TCGA for training and employs the entire TCGA database (both diagnostic slides and frozen section) for validation.<sup>28</sup> As such, the validation of Yottixel is the most trustable method. SISH and RetCCL use part of TCGA (diagnostic slides only) both for training and testing. We could not verify the data hygiene for SISH and RetCCL (i.e., strict separation between training and testing data).

Lahr et al. have conducted a large-scale analysis and validation of BoVW, Yottixel, SISH, and RetCCL using internal and external data.<sup>33</sup> They report that BoVW and Yottixel offer advanced search solutions with a blend of high speed and efficient storage, presenting valuable capabilities. However, achieving enhanced accuracy requires integration with a welltrained backbone network and adjustments to the primary site. Yottixel, being a commercial product, allows researchers more freedom to explore various BoVW variants. Manual settings in Yottixel's mosaic, particularly regarding cluster number and sampling percentage, could benefit from automation. A logarithmic barcode comparison approach could further boost the speed of median-of-minimum Hamming distance calculations in Yottixel. Lahr et al. also conclude that SISH, as a Yottixel variant, departs from Occam's Razor principles, introducing speed and scalability challenges due to unnecessary complexity. SISH's reliance on vEB trees with exponential space requirements renders it impractical for large datasets, hindering loading and processing of terabytes of data. RetCCL, though labeled a search engine, primarily focuses on the CCL network, lacking expressive embeddings for tissue morphology and, therefore, struggling to qualify as an effective search engine. Lahr et al. provide a ranking of some variations of these search methods (see Table 4).

## Multimodal search in histopathology

Multimodal information retrieval is not as old as image retrieval but has been investigated extensively.<sup>19,50</sup> Combining images with other modalities is less mature.<sup>10,31</sup> Indeed, studying multimodal retrieval in conjunction with medical images is a newer field.<sup>9,30</sup> Only a few works have gone beyond image search and integrated other modalities into search. For instance, textual metadata has been combined with histopathology images in a cross-modal learning framework.<sup>37</sup> Also, molecular data such as RNA sequences have shown promise to increase search accuracy when combined with WSIs.<sup>4</sup> It is hard to argue for the usefulness of image search if WSIs, patches, or microscopic snapshots are only accompanied with a primary diagnosis. The value of image search degrades into a fancy classifier that cannot even match the accuracy of a classifier. The real value of CBIR arises when combining tissue images with diagnostic reports, clinical notes, patient demographics, laboratory test values, molecular data, radiology images, and patient outcomes. As of today, there is no multimodal search for pathology.

## Image search and foundation models

The domain of search and retrieval may initially seem distinct from artificial neural networks. However, one may argue that this distinction is only superficial. Traditional search engines typically function through look-up tables, which are generated using specific functions and algorithms to locate desired information. This implies that while we partially construct these tables, but we do explicitly utilize tables to locate information. On the contrary, neural networks—whether shallow or deep—can be likened to *soft tables*. Within these networks, the network structure itself or intricate pathways within it assist in locating and delivering the desired information (see Fig. 7).

A foundation model (FM), mostly based on transformer architectures, generally refers to a large language model (LLM) or a large visionlanguage models (LVLM) that serves as the basis for various downstream tasks concerning text and or images. Many specialized models can be derived from a foundation model. An FM is trained on an extremely large body of data, mostly using unsupervised learning (e.g., self-supervised learning). An FM captures patterns, relationships, and semantic representations within the data such that it can generate new data, which is the most fascinating (and most ethically sensitive) aspect of FMs. For instance, in contrast to previous language models, LLMs as text-specialized FMs can generate meaningful and context-aware responses, yielding suggestions that can be exploited for many downstream tasks such as summarization. FMs, such as OpenAI's chatGPT, have demonstrated significant advancements in the field of NLP and have enabled the development of various novel applications, chatbots, language assistants, and intelligent systems that can understand and generate human-like text. Other examples of FMs include GPT-3 (Generative Pre-trained Transformer 3), and BERT (Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers). As for images, alone or in conjunction with text, one may mention FMs like CLIP (Contrastive Language-Image Pretraining) and SAM (Semantic Alignment through Multimodal Contrastive Learning).

The connection between image search and foundation models can manifest in two general scenarios: one involves extracting deep features using a foundation model and utilizing them to index images for search.<sup>3,43</sup> Properly trained foundation models can offer expressive features, significantly enhancing search and retrieval capabilities. A second scenario involves the integration of search and deep models, where foundation models rely on Retrieval-Augmented Generation (RAG).<sup>34</sup> Among other applications, search and retrieval mechanisms can aid foundation models in tasks such as "source attribution"<sup>29</sup> and fact-checking results by providing relevant information from small or large datasets, thereby reinforcing the foundation model's robustness. RAG has the potential to address the "black box" disadvantage inherent in deep models, a limitation that persists in various forms even for foundation models.

Recently, some researchers have collected online images (e.g., from Twitter and PubMed) to re-train CLIP for histopathology.<sup>24,36</sup> The general wisdom is that employing online images is not a suitable venue: *Gargabe in, Garage out*. Validations with high-quality clinical data have clearly shown these models will not provide any value in pathology.<sup>2</sup> When

Table 4

Lahr et al. ranked the performance of different search engines based on their accuracy (F1-score for top-1, majority of top-3, and majority of top-5), indexing time, searching time, failures, and storage (performance ranking between 1 (best) and 6 (worst)).

	Top-1	MV@3	MV@5	Indexing time	Searching time	Failures	Storage	Total ranking
Yottixel <sup>a</sup>	3	2	1	2	1	1	2	1.71
Yottixel-KR <sup>1</sup>	2	1	2	2	1	2	2	1.71
Yottixel-K <sup>2</sup>	1	3	4	2	1	2	2	2.14
BoVW	6	6	6	1	2	2	1	3.43
SISH <sup>a</sup>	4	4	3	3	3	4	4	3.57
SISH-N <sup>3</sup>	5	5	5	3	3	4	4	4.14
RetCCL-N <sup>3</sup>	8	8	7	4	4	3	3	5.28
RetCCL <sup>a</sup>	7	7	8	4	4	3	3	5.43

<sup>a</sup> As originally proposed. 1 DenseNet replaced by KimiaNet, and using ranking after search. 2 DenseNet replaced by KimiaNet. 3 SISH with no ranking after search. 4 RetCCL with no ranking after search.



Fig. 7. Hard versus soft look-up tables for search. In conventional search a query "Lung tissue" is passed through "function" (a mathematical function of some sort) to find the location of the right item "LUAD" (lung adenocarcinoma) associate with "Lung tissue". A network can be understood as soft look-up table, whereas the function is implemented in network itself and in a complex trajectory in the weight space of the network (concepts are oversimplified to illustrate the connection between explicit and implicit search).

#### Table 5

Comparison of "information retrieval" versus "foundation models" as two technologies that may be used to assist pathologists in decision making.<sup>53</sup>

	Information retrieval (IR)	Foundation models (FMs)
Model size	Small	Very large
Size of dataset needed	Small	Very large
Computational footprint	Small	Very large
Strength	Convinces through retrieving evidence	Convince through knowledgeable conversations
Disease type suitability	All diseases including rare cases with only a few examples	Mainly common diseases with a lot of data available
Information processing type	Explicit information retrieval	Implicit information retrieval
Source attribution for responses to query	Visible; Accessible; Explainable	Invisible; Not accessible; Not easily explainable
Maintenance	<ul> <li>Low dependency on hardware updates</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High dependency on hardware updates</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Cases can be added/deleted easily.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High efforts for prompting to customize for specific tasks</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Re-indexing has moderate computational costs</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Expensive re-training cycles may be necessary</li> </ul>

designing and training FMs for pathology with high-quality data, one has to redefine the requirements for image search. In this case, the tasks will be intrinsically multimodal and the Divide & Conquer tasks will need to be implemented within the pathology-aware FM. A new type of search will then perhaps be part of a FM-derived question and answering. The most crucial concern in this regard will be the "generative" aspect of FMs which is undesired in medicine when it degenerates into hallucinations. It's essential to note that foundation models with conversational capabilities are closely tied to search, serving as implicit information retrieval. Table 5 offers a comparison between search and foundation models.

#### Summary and conclusions

There has been minimal innovation in the area of "Divide" for efficient and reliable processing of WSIs. HBIR and SMILY lack this feature. Yottixel is the only search engine with a novel and unsupervised Divide, namely the mosaic. SISH and RetCCL rely on Yottixel. BoVW offers a different approach to Divide and deserves more attention. Clearly, there is an urgent need for new Divide strategies for patching WSIs that satisfy the following conditions: universality, biopsy independence, diagnostic inclusion, high-speed, and efficiency. Similarly, there has been little progress in the field of "encoding", which involves converting deep features into a more compact and less storage-hungry search engine like Yottixel's binary vectors (barcodes). It would be beneficial to develop a solution that eliminates the need for feature binarization altogether, although this task may prove more challenging than devising novel binarization methods not patented by industry, as is the case for Yottixel's barcodes. Multimodal search schemes are sorely lacking, highlighting a significant deficiency in the research community. While WSIs are valuable, their retrieval potential is limited as a single modality. The future lies in *searching more comprehensively for patient data*, and patient representation requires the integration of multiple modalities. Lastly, the pathology community should strive to develop foundation models based on large-scale, high-quality multimodal data. Such models would not replace the need for search but open new horizons for search capabilities in laboratory medicine and pathology.

#### **Declaration of Competing Interest**

Hamid R Tizhoosh is the inventor of Yottixel's barcoding, a patented technology that belongs to Huron Digital Pathology. Hamid R Tizhoosh has no relationship with Huron Digital Pathology for more than three years.

## References

- Akakin HC, Gurcan MN. Content-based microscopic image retrieval system for multiimage queries. IEEE Trans Inform Technol Biomed 2012;16(4):758–769.
- Alfasly S, Nejat P, Hemati S, et al. Foundation models for histopathology—fanfare or flair. Mayo Clin Proc Digital Health 2024;2(1):165–174.
- Alfasly S, Nejat P, Hemati S, et al.When is a foundation model. 2023. arXiv preprint arXiv:2309.11510.
- Alsaafin A, Safarpoor A, Sikaroudi M, Hipp JD, Tizhoosh HR. Learning to predict RNA sequence expressions from whole slide images with applications for search and classification. Commun Biol 2023;6(1):304.
- Barker J, Hoogi A, Depeursinge A, Rubin DL. Automated classification of brain tumor type in whole-slide digital pathology images using local representative tiles. Med Image Anal 2016;30:60–71.
- Barz B, Denzler J. Content-based image retrieval and the semantic gap in the deep learning era. Pattern Recognition. ICPR International Workshops and Challenges: Virtual Event, January 10–15, 2021, Proceedings, Part II. Springer International Publishing; 2021. p. 245–260.

#### H.R. Tizhoosh, L. Pantanowitz

- Bidgoli AA, Rahnamayan S, Dehkharghanian T, Riasatian A, Tizhoosh HR. Evolutionary computation in action: hyperdimensional deep embedding spaces of gigapixel pathology images. IEEE Trans Evol Computat 2022;27(1):52–66.
- Buttcher S, Clarke CLA, Cormack GV. Information Retrieval: Implementing and Evaluating Search Engines. MIT Press. 2016.
- Cao Y, Steffey S, He J, et al. Medical image retrieval: a multimodal approach. Cancer Inform 2014;13.CIN-S14053.
- Chang E, Goh K, Sychay G, Wu G. CBSA: content-based soft annotation for multimodal image retrieval using Bayes point machines. IEEE Trans Circuits Syst Video Technol 2003;13(1):26–38.
- Chen S, Ma B, Zhang K. On the similarity metric and the distance metric. Theoret Comput Sci 2009;410(24–25):2365–2376.
- Chen C, Lu MY, Williamson DFK, Chen TY, Schaumberg AJ, Mahmood F. Fast and scalable search of whole-slide images via self-supervised deep learning. Nat Biomed Eng 2022;6(12):1420–1434.
- Deorukhkar K, Ket S. A detailed review of prevailing image captioning methods using deep learning techniques. Multimedia Tools Appl 2022;81(1):1313–1336.
- Eccher A, Tos APD, Scarpa A, et al. Cost analysis of archives in the pathology laboratories: from safety to management. J Clin Pathol 2023;76(10):659–663.
- Ferber D, Wölflein G, Wiest IC, et al. In-context learning enables multimodal large language models to classify cancer pathology images. 2024. arXiv preprint arXiv: 2403.07407.
- Garcia-Gasulla D, Parés F, Vilalta A, et al. On the behavior of convolutional nets for feature extraction. J Artif Intel Res 2018;61:563–592.
- Hanna MG, Ardon O, Reuter VE, et al. Integrating digital pathology into clinical practice. Modern Pathol 2022;35(2):152–164.
- Hare JS, Lewis PH, Enser PGB, Sandom CJ. Mind the gap: another look at the problem of the semantic gap in image retrieval. Multimedia Content Analysis, Management, and Retrieval 2006. SPIE; 2006. p. 75–86.
- Hauptmann AG, Wactlar HD. Indexing and search of multimodal information. In 1997 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing. IEEE; 1997. p. 195–198.
- Hegde N, Hipp JD, Liu Y, et al. Similar image search for histopathology: SMILY. NPJ Digit Med 2019;2(1):56.
- Hemati S, Kalra S, Meaney C, Babaie M, Ghodsi A, Tizhoosh H. CNN and deep sets for end-to-end whole slide image representation learning. Medical Imaging with Deep Learning. PMLR; 2021. p. 301–311.
- 22. Hersh W, Hersh W, Weston. Information Retrieval: A Biomedical and Health Perspective. New York: Springer. 2020.
- Hsu WW, Wu Y, Chen CH, et al. A computer-aided diagnosis system for breast pathology: a deep learning approach with model interpretability from pathological perspective. SOCA 2023. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11761-023-00378-4.
- Huang Z, Bianchi F, Yuksekgonul M, Montine TJ, Zou J. A visual-language foundation model for pathology image analysis using medical Twitter. Nat Med 2023:1-10.
- Huynh-Thu Q, Garcia M-N, Speranza F, Corriveau P, Raake Al. Study of rating scales for subjective quality assessment of high-definition video. IEEE Trans Broadcast 2010;57(1): 1-14.
- Kalra S, Li L, Tizhoosh HR. 2019. Automaclassification of pathology reports using TF-IDF features. 2019. arXiv preprint .arXiv:1903.07406.
- Kalra S, Tizhoosh HR, Choi C, et al. Yottixel-an image search engine for large archives of histopathology whole slide images. Med Image Anal 2020;65, 101757.
- Kalra S, Tizhoosh HR, Shah S, et al. Pan-cancer diagnostic consensus through searching archival histopathology images using artificial intelligence. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3(1):31.
- Kamalloo E, Jafari A, Zhang X, Thakur N, Lin J. 2023. HagrA human-llm collaborative dataset for generative information-seeking with attribution. 2023. arXiv preprint#,.']. arXiv:2307.16883.
- Kitanovski I, Strezoski G, Dimitrovski I, Madjarov G, Loskovska S. Multimodal medical image retrieval system. Multimedia Tools Appl 2017;76:2955–2978.
- Kumar A, Kim J, Cai W, Fulham M, Feng D. Content-based medical image retrieval: a survey of applications to multidimensional and multimodality data. J Digital Imaging 2013;26:1025–1039.
- Kumar MD, Babaie M, Tizhoosh HR. Deep barcodes for fast retrieval of histopathology scans. 2018 International Joint Conference on Neural Networks (IJCNN). IEEE; 2018. p. 1–8.
- Lahr I, Alfasly S, Nejat P, et al. Analysis and validation of image search engines in histopat2024. hology. 2024. arXiv prnt.arXiv:2401.03271.
- Lewis P, Perez E, Piktus A, et al. Retrieval-augmented generation for knowledge-intensive nlp tasks. Adv Neural Inform Process Syst 2020;33:9459–9474.
- Long LR, Antani S, Deserno TM, Thoma GR. Content-based image retrieval in medicine: retrospective assessment, state of the art, and future directions. Int J Healthcare Inform Syst Inform (IJHISI) 2009;4(1):1-16.
- Lu MY, Chen B, Williamson DFK, et al. 2023. Tos a visual-language foundation model for computational pathology. 2023. arXiv preprint.arXiv:2307.12914.

- Maleki D, Tizhoosh HR. LILE: look in-depth before looking elsewhere-a dual attention network using transformers for cross-modal information retrieval in histopathology archives. International Conference on Medical Imaging with Deep Learning. PMLR; 2022. p. 879–894.
- Möller M, Regel S, Sintek M. RadSem: semantic annotation and retrieval for medical images. ESWC; 2009. p. 21–35.
- Müller H, Müller W, Squire DmcG, Marchand-Maillet S, Pun T. Performance evaluation in content-based image retrieval: overview and proposals. Pattern Recognit Lett 2001;22 (5):593–601.
- Narasimhan H, Pan W, Kar P, Protopapas P, Ramaswamy HG. Optimizing the multiclass f-measure via biconcave programming. 2016 IEEE 16th International Conference on Data Mining (ICDM). IEEE; 2016. p. 1101–1106.
- Pang Y, Li Y, Shen J, Shao L. Towards bridging semantic gap to improve semantic segmentation. Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF International Conference on Computer Vision; 2019. p. 4230–4239.
- 42. Qayyum A, Anwar SM, Awais M, Majid M. Medical image retrieval using deep convolutional neural network. Neurocomputing 2017;266:8-20.
- 43. Sain A, Bhunia AK, Chowdhury PN, Koley S, Xiang T, Song Y-Z. Clip for all things zeroshot sketch-based image retrieval, fine-grained or not. Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition; 2023. p. 2765–2775.
- Schulz S, Schober D, Daniel C, Jaulent M-C. Bridging the semantics gap between terminologies, ontologies, and information models. MEDINFO 2010. IOS Press; 2010. p. 1000–1004.
- 45. Sharma H, Alekseychuk A, Leskovsky P, et al. Determining similarity in histological images using graph-theoretic description and matching methods for content-based image retrieval in medical diagnostics. Diag Pathol 2012;7(1):1-20.
- Shen D, Guorong W, Suk H-I. Deep learning in medical image analysis. Annu Rev Biomed Eng 2017;19:221–248.
- Sikaroudi M, Rahnamayan S, Tizhoosh HR. Hospital-agnostic image representation learning in digital pathology. In 2022 44th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society (EMBC). IEEE; 2022. p. 3055–3058.
- Sikaroudi M, Afshari M, Shafique A, Kalra S, Tizhoosh HR. Comments on 'Fast and scalable search of whole-slide images via self-supervised deep learning'. 2023. arXiv preprint arXiv:2304.08297.
- Sridhar A, Doyle S, Madabhushi A. Content-based image retrieval of digitized histopathology in boosted spectrally embedded spaces. J Pathol Inform 2015;6(1):41.
- 50. Srihari RK, Rao A, Han B, Munirathnam S, Wu X. A model for multimodal information retrieval. In 2000 IEEE International Conference on Multimedia and Expo. ICME2000. Proceedings. Latest Advances in the Fast Changing World of Multimedia (Cat. No. 00TH8532). IEEE; 2000. p. 701–704.
- Tizhoosh HR. Barcode annotations for medical image retrieval: A preliminary investigation. In 2015 IEEE International Conference on Image Processing (ICIP). IEEE; 2015. p. 818–822.
- Tizhoosh HR, Diamandis P, Campbell CJV, et al. Searching images for consensus: can AI remove observer variability in pathology? Am J Pathol 2021;191(10):1702–1708.
- Tizhoosh HR. Foundation models and information retrieval in digital patho2024. logy. 2024. arXiv prep. arXiv:2403.12090v1.
- Tommasino C, Merolla F, Russo C, Staibano S, Rinaldi AM. Histopathological image deep feature representation for CBIR in smart PACS. J Digital Imaging 2023:1-16.
- Traore I, Kergosien Y, Racoceanu D. Bridging the semantic gap between diagnostic histopathology and image analysis. Stud Health Technol Inform 2017;235:436–440.
- US Patent. Systems and Methods for Barcode Annotations for Digital Images, US Patent No. 10,628, 736 B2. April 21, 2020.
- Wan J, Wang D, Hoi SCH, et al. Deep learning for content-based image retrieval: a comprehensive study. Proceedings of the 22nd ACM International Conference on Multimedia; 2014. p. 157–166.
- Wang X, Du Y, Yang S, et al. RetCCL: clustering-guided contrastive learning for wholeslide image retrieval. Med Image Anal 2023;83, 102645.
- Zhang X, Liu W, Dundar M, Badve S, Zhang S. Towards large-scale histopathological image analysis: hashing-based image retrieval. IEEE Trans Med Imaging 2014;34(2): 496–506.
- Zhang Z, Chen P, McGough M, et al. Pathologist-level interpretable whole-slide cancer diagnosis with deep learning. Nat Mach Intel 2019;1(5):236–245.
- Zheng Y, Jiang Z, Zhang H, et al. Histopathological whole slide image analysis using context-based CBIR. IEEE Trans Med Imaging 2018;37(7):1641–1652.
- Zhou XS, Huang TS. Relevance feedback in image retrieval: a comprehensive review. Multimedia Syst 2003;8:536–544.
- Zhou W, Newsam S, Li C, Shao Z. PatternNet: a benchmark dataset for performance evaluation of remote sensing image retrieval. ISPRS J Photogram Remote Sensing 2018;145: 197–209.
- Zhu S, Li Y, Kalra S, Tizhoosh HR. Multiple disjoint dictionaries for representation of histopathology images. J Visual Commun Image Represent 2018;55:243–252.